1		FILED 01/10/2019 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA Case Number: DA 18-0236
2	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA	
	Case No. DA 18-0236	
	On appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court	
	County of Missoula	
	Cause No. DR-15-27	
	Honorable Robert L. Deschamps, III, presiding	
	IN RE THE PARENTING OF:	
	T.P.D.C.,	
	A Minor Child.	
	TAMI DISNEY,	
	Petitioner and Appellant,	
	VS.	
	BRANDON STAAT,	
	Respondent, Appellee and Cross-Appellant	
	Appearances:	
	Kathleen A. Molsberry, Matthew B. Lowy	
	Lowy Law, PLLC	
	2419 Mullan Road, Suite B	
	Missoula, MT 59808	
	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF Pa	ge 1 of 23

1	(406)926-6500
2	(406)290-1889

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the district court err when dismissing Ms. Disney's Petition to Terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights on the basis that she had not established by clear and convincing evidence that the sexual intercourse causing the conception of T.P.D.C. was non-consensual?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The parties to this action, Ms. Disney and Mr. Staat have a previously negotiated parenting-plan agreement that was adopted by the trial court on October 5, 2016, and participate in a co-parenting arrangement.

October 1, 2017, Montana law changed to include a private cause of action for the termination or parental rights in instances where a child is conceived by sexual intercourse without consent when the perpetrator of the assault has not been criminally convicted by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Mont. Code. Ann. § 41-3-801, et seq.

January 21, 2018, Tami Disney filed a petition, pursuant to § 41-3-801, et seq., to terminate Brandon Staat's parental rights to the child, T.P.D.C., on the basis that the sexual intercourse causing T.P.D.C.'s conception was nonconsensual.

March 2, 9, and 28, 2018, the trial court held a hearing on Ms. Disney's Petition for Termination of Parental Rights.

April 7, 2018, the trial court issued a written order denying the petition, on the basis that Ms. Disney had not met her burden of proof of clear and convincing evidence that the sexual intercourse causing the conception of T.P.D.C. had been non-consensual.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Tami Disney and Brandon Staat have one child together, T.P.D.C., born October 22, 2014.

October 6, 2016, the trial court entered a stipulated parenting plan arrangement for T.P.D.C.

January 21, 2018, Ms. Disney filed a petition to terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights for sexual intercourse without consent causing the conception of T.P.D.C. pursuant to Mont Code Ann. § 41-3-801, et seq.

At the termination hearing, Ms. Disney testified about her relationship with Appellee Staat and the factual background surrounding T.P.D.C.'s conception and birth.

Ms. Disney underwent brain surgery in 2010. Subsequent to the surgery, Ms. Disney became dependent upon the opiates she was prescribed for health conditions associated with the surgery. (Trans. at 23:1) Ms. Disney first became acquainted with Mr. Staat in February 2014 when she met him through the friend of a friend. (Trans. at 32:10) During this time period, Ms. Disney often engaged in binge drinking, and often drank while under the influence of her medication. (Trans. at 24:31, Trans. at 26:24)

On the night of February 19, 2014, Ms. Disney and Mr. Staat arranged to meet at Katie O'Keefe's in Missoula, Montana. (Trans. at 25:9) Lyle Vinson, a friend of Ms. Disney's, was also present that evening. (Trans. at 33:9)

Ms. Disney testified to being under the influence of both opiates and alcohol on February 19, 2014. (Trans. at 26:24). She was under the influence of her medication

when she arrived at Katie O'Keefe's and began drinking large amounts of dark beer upon her arrival. (Trans. at 27:16). Ms. Disney recalled Mr. Staat purchasing her around approximately four Cold smoke beers before her memory became altered due to her intoxication level. (Trans. at 28:4) She also had not eaten much that day, as eating less food caused her medication to be more effective. (Trans. at 29:5)

Ms. Disney was unable to clearly remember all the events of the night of February 19, 2014, as she was passing in and out of consciousness due to her level of intoxication. (Trans. at 33:19) She recalled speaking with both Mr. Staat and Mr. Vision at Katie O'Keefe's and that Staat was purchasing alcohol for her to consume (Trans, 28:4). She recalled returning to a state of consciousness while lying on the bathroom floor of Katie O'Keefe's and being unaware of how she had ended up there. (Trans. at 33:9)

Ms. Disney remembered next getting into Staat's truck with him, but due to her level of intoxication at the time, does not remember what happened next. (Trans. at 34:6) She remembered next coming to awareness while laying naked in Staat's bed with him on top of her, in the process of having sexual intercourse with her, and stating he was "going to blow." (Trans. 34:15) Ms. Disney remembered nothing further that happened after this instance until waking up hungover the next morning. (Trans. at 35:2) She then had Mr. Staat drive her to where her car was parked near Katie O'Keefe's. (Trans at 35:12)

Ms. Disney attempted to continue a relationship with Mr. Staat after the events of February 19, 2018. (Trans. at 73:23). She was suffering from addiction and blamed herself Mr. Staat sexually assaulting her on February 19, 2018, and believed at the time

that establishing a relationship would "fix" the matter. (Trans. at 73:23). Mr Staat had sexual intercourse with Ms. Disney several additional times after February 19, 2018, and during these instances Ms. Disney was incapacitated by alcohol and drugs, and none of the instances of sexual intercourse were consensual. (Trans. at 17:60) After several weeks, Ms. Disney ended her relationship with Mr. Staat as she was ashamed and disgusted by the relationship and believed what Mr. Staat had done to her was wrong. (Trans. at 73:23).

At the termination hearing, Mr. Staat testified that Ms. Disney did not seem intoxicated to him on the night of February 19, 2014, and that the instance of sexual intercourse was consensual. (Trans. at 244:12).

In support of his argument that when he had sexual intercourse with Ms. Disney she consented, Mr. Staat offered as an exhibit a book containing what he purported to be print-outs of text message exchanges between himself and Ms. Disney from around the time-frame of February 19, 2014. (Trans. at 21:44). Counsel for Mr. Staat first offered these print-outs during the cross-examination of Ms. Disney, and had Ms. Disney read selected messages from the print-outs. (Trans. at 45:6). Ms. Disney did not have any recollection of sending the text messages and was unable to lay any foundation for them. (Trans. at 45:9)

When the trial court subsequently took testimony from Mr. Staat, he testified that he created the text messages print-outs by downloading them from his phone by the means of a phone application. (Trans. at 199:16) The print-outs were not original text messages between Ms. Disney and Mr. Staat. Mr. Staat testified that the text messages were true accurate representations of the text exchanges between himself and Ms. Disney, and the trial court allowed pages of text messages print-outs selected by Mr. Staat to be offered into evidence, on the basis that Mr. Staat's testimony had laid sufficient foundation for their entry. (Trans. at 198:13, Trans. at 221:1)

Ms. Disney read selected portions from the text messages during her crossexamination before they had been admitted into evidence. (Trans. at 45:6) She also was required to read aloud for the court record printouts text messages that were never admitted into evidence. (Trans. at 45:6, Trans. At 221:1)

Tammy Mercer, co-worker to Ms. Disney, testified that she remembered Ms. Disney calling her in February of 2014, upset that she had sexual intercourse with a man she did not know well. (Trans. at 81:24) Ms. Disney informed her she did not remember the details of the sexual encounter due to her level of intoxication and was upset about what had happened. <u>Id.</u>

Additionally, under the terms of her 2016 stipulated parenting plan Ms. Disney participated in family therapy with Cindy Miller, and Ms. Disney informed Cindy Miller of the circumstances leading to TP.D.C.'s conception and how she been intoxicated to the point of incapacity at the time. (Trans. at 41:2)

Ms. Disney began participating in alcoholics anonymous to treat her substance abuse in May of 2015, with Laura Kamura acted as her AA sponsor since that time. (Trans. at 154:4). At the termination hearing, Ms. Kamura proposed to offer testimony about Ms. Disney's resentment toward Mr. Staat that she witnessed through Ms. Disney's participation in the AA program. (Trans. at 162:22) Ms. Kamura assisted Ms. Disney with working through step four in the AA program, a step where participants take personal inventory of themselves by working through their resentment, the cause of it, and their role in the situation. <u>Id.</u> Ms. Disney completed a separate step four in September or October of 2015 specifically concerning her resentment towards Mr. Staat. (Trans. 164: 11).

The trial court declined to take this testimony, on the grounds the record already contained statements from the child-custody matter that did not include any assertions by Ms. Disney that Mr. Staat had raped her. (Trans. 158:23).

Ms. Disney began dating Jesse Caton in May of 2014. (Trans. at 130:6) Mr. Caton testified that he and Ms. Disney confronted Mr. Staat at Butterfly Herbs in Missoula, Montana during Ms. Disney's pregnancy in 2014 and urged him to abandon an effort to obtain a parental interest in T.P.D.C. due to the circumstances surrounding her conception. (Trans 340:2) Mr. Caton told Mr. Staat he had, "practically raped Tami." (Trans. 342:2)

April 7th, 2018, the District Court issued a written order denying the Petition to terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights. The District Court held that Ms. Disney had not established by clear and convincing evidence that the sexual intercourse that caused the conception of T.P.D.C. was non-consensual.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court's decision to deny Ms. Disney's petition to terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights was erroneous for the following reasons: 1) the trial court did not apply Montana's definition of consent or incapacity when making its determination that the sexual intercourse in question was non-consensual, 2) the trial court classified the termination petition as a sub-part of the custodial determination matter between the parties, rather than as a separate matter, and relied upon facts for the custodial matter when making its determination, 3) the trial court did not apply Montana's rape shield statute to the termination hearing and allowed evidence of Ms. Disney subsequent sexual conduct with the perpetrator into evidence, and 4) the trial court relied upon Mr. Staat's exhibit of text message print-outs in making it's determination, which were allowed into evidence without sufficient foundation to establish their authenticity, in violation of the Montana Rules of Evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The appropriate standard of review of the district court's decision to deny Ms. Disney's petition to terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights is de novo.

The trial court misapplied Montana law it did not follow Montana's definitions of consent and incapacity, as defined by statute. The trial court misapplied Montana law in its decision to allow evidence of Ms. Disney's subsequent sexual conduct with the perpetrator. The interpretation of a statute is a matter of law, and whether the district court interpreted and applied a statute correctly is reviewed de novo. <u>State v. Triplett</u>, 2008 MT 360, ¶ 13, 346 Mont. 383, 195 P.3d 819.

Additionally, the trial court's decision to allow Mr. Staat's text message print-outs was based on an incorrect interpretation of the Montana rules of evidence pertaining to originals and instances when duplicates are admissible in lieu of the original. The trial court's misapplication of matters of law requires de novo review.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's decision to dismiss Ms. Disney's petition for the termination of Mr. Staat's parental rights should be set aside due to: 1) the trial court's failure to apply Montana's definition of consent to sexual intercourse and Montana's definition of incapacity, 2) incorrect classification of the termination matter as part of the custody determination matter between the two parties, 3) the trial court's misapplication of Montana' rape shield statute to the matter, and 4) the trial court's misapplication of the Montana rules of evidence when admitting Mr. Staat's exhibit of text message print-outs into evidence.

I. The trial court failed to apply Montana's definitions of incapacity and consent to sexual intercourse

The trial court's Order fails to apply Montana's definition of consent to sexual intercourse and also fails to take into account that Ms. Disney was incapacitated when Mr. Staat had sexual intercourse with her. Under Montana law, an individual intoxicated to the point of incapacitation cannot consent. "….[T]he victim is incapable of consent because the victim is mentally disordered or incapacitated …" Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501(1)(b)(i). Furthermore Montana law defines mental incapacitation as "a person

is rendered temporary incapable of appreciating or controlling the person's own conduct as a result of the influence of an intoxicating substance." Mont Code. Ann. § 45-2-101(41).

Montana caselaw further states that Mont. Code Ann. § 45-2-101(41) provides that an individual is mentally incapacitated when, due to the influence of an intoxicating substance, she is temporary incapable of appreciating or controlling her conduct. <u>State v.</u> <u>Gould</u>, ¶ 28, 273 Mont. 207, 902 P.2d 535. Mental incapacity, as defined by Mont. Code. Ann. §45-2-101(35), includes voluntary intoxication. <u>Id</u>. The statute by its terms does not differentiate between voluntary intoxication and involuntary intoxication and is not limited to involuntary intoxication. <u>Id</u>.

Additionally, under Montana law, a current or previous dating or social or sexual relationship by itself or the manner of dress of the person involved with the accused in the conduct at issue does not constitute consent. Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-501(1)(a)(ii).

Ms. Disney testified she was unable to consent to sexual intercourse due to her level of intoxication as well as testified she was under the influence of alcohol and prescription drugs. She stated she was under the influence of opioids, had not eaten much that day, and that she had consumed large amounts of Cold Smoke beer. She was passing in and out of consciousness and came to a state of awareness while laying in Mr. Staat's bed with him on top of her, having sexual intercourse with her, with no recollection of how she came to be there. (Trans. at 33:19, Trans. at 34:15) She did not remember anything after that until waking up the next morning. Ms. Disney's testimony established that she was incapacitated when Staat had sexual intercourse without consent with her on February 19, 2014.

However, the trial court's order states, "Tami did not testify that her sexual intercourse with Brandon Staat was without her consent. Rather she testified she doesn't remember what proceeded the act of intercourse. Her legal assertion that Brandon perpetrated sexual intercourse without consent is grounded on her contention that she was 'blacked out' due to intoxication and so doesn't remember most of the events of the night of February 19, 2014." (Order at 6:24).

The trial court's order further states "Tami has presented no evidence to excuse her from the concept that persons who are deliberately intoxicated are responsible for the consequences of her their voluntary acts." (Order at 7:11). The trial court ultimately held, "[t]here is no clear and convincing evidence that the act of sexual intercourse that caused T.P.D.C. to be conceived was without consent as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-801(2)(b). (Order at 8:2)

Contrary to the conclusions in the trial court's order, Ms. Disney did not testify that she committed a voluntary act of sexual intercourse with Mr. Staat. She testified that Mr. Staat had sexual intercourse with her while she was incapacitated and that she had difficult remembering everything that directly proceeded and followed the incident.

The trial court's order misapplies Montana law and does not take into account Ms. Disney's incapacitation. Nor does it apply Montana's definition of consent to sexual intercourse.

II. The trial court erroneously classification Ms. Disney's termination petition with T.PD.C.'s custody matter as part of the same action

Ms. Disney petitioned the trial Court to terminate Mr. Staat's parental rights in accordance with the "Child Abuse and Neglect" provision for termination of parental rights found in Mont. Code Ann. § 41-3-801, et al. A termination proceeding is a separate action with a separate prayer for relief and is distinguished from a parenting plan action. Accordingly, Ms. Disney's petition for the termination of Staat's parental rights should have been adjudicated as a separate proceeding.

However, instead of creating a separate cause of action for the termination proceeding, the trial court classified the petition to terminate parental rights as part of the custody determination matter involving T.P.D.C. The court viewed the two matters as subparts of the same matter and relied upon the record in the custody matter when adjudicating the termination petition and making its decision of whether the sexual intercourse that caused the conception of T.P.D.C. was nonconsensual

At the termination hearing, the trial court stated that Ms. Disney, there was nothing in the court file that suggested the conception was the product of a rape and referenced the custody matter, reading directly from the DR-file. (Trans. 158:23). The Court concluded that as there was a history of resentment between the parties, but there were no prior allegations of rape in the custody matter the, the Court would not hear testimony from Laura Kamura that Ms. Disney had informed her her resentment towards Mr. Staat came from him raping her. <u>Id.</u> The trial court's classification of the two matters as one is inconsistent with the procedure employed for adjudicating another termination petition in accordance with Mont. Code Ann. §41-4-802 et seq. filed in Montana's Fourth Judicial District. In 2018, another termination petition was filed in Montana's Fourth Judicial District, Department 4, initially in a DR matter, and the trial court ordered the petition to be withdrawn and refiled in a separate proceeding. (Exhibit 1: Petitioner's Opposed Motion to: Alter or Amend Judgment, or Grant New Trial and Brief in Support 4:20).

The parties' custody matter involving T.P.D.C. should not have been made part of the record or relied upon by the trial court in making its determination of whether the sexual intercourse causing the conception of T.P.D.C. was consensual. Whether the sexual intercourse that caused the conception of T.P.D.C. was non-consensual is not dependent upon facts found in or the outcome of T.P.D.C.'s custody matter. The custody matter and the termination matter should have been adjudicated as separate proceedings.

III. The trial court failed to apply Montana's rape shield statute to the termination hearing

The trial court heard evidence of Ms. Disney subsequent sexual conduct with Mr. Staat and used this evidence in its final determination. Montana's rape shield statutes are explicit that evidence concerning the sexual conduct of the victim is inadmissible. Three exceptions apply, and these exceptions pertain to past sexual conduct.

"Evidence of the sexual conduct of the victim is inadmissible in prosecutions under this part except evidence of the victim's past sexual conduct with the offender or

evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual activity to show the origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease that is at issue in the prosecution." Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(2). When a proponent intends to offer evidence of the sexual conduct of the victim, the Court has an affirmative obligation to determine the admissibility of evidence prior to trial. "If the defendant proposes for any purpose to offer evidence described in subsection (2), the trial judge shall order a hearing out of the presence of the jury to determine whether the proposed evidence is admissible under subsection (2)." Mont. Code Ann. § 45-5-511(3). This pre-trial notice ensures fairness of proceedings and eliminate surprise.

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