FILED

02/07/2019

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA Case Number: DA 18-0236

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court No. DA-18-0236

IN RE PARENTING OF: T.P.D.C.,

A minor child.

TAMI DISNEY,

Petitioner and Appellant,

VS.

BRANDON STAAT,

Respondent, Appellee and Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND CROSS-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM: the District Court of the Fourth Judicial District, in and for the County of Missoula, Cause No. DR-15-27, Before the Honorable Robert L. Deschamps, III, District Judge.

Appearances:

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

Liz Master's testimony the couple were affectionate and Mother was not intoxicated during the sexual encounter Master's overheard provides further evidence of consensual relations. *Hr. Tr.* 93-101.

The District Court carefully considered the testimony and evidence in determining Mother was not credible when alleging she was "black-out" drunk, and there is substantial credible evidence supporting the Court's determination "at least" a preponderance of the evidence shows the encounter was consensual.

B. Mother filed her petition to terminate in the parenting action and waived any alleged procedural defect.

Although Mother filed her *Petition to Terminate* in the parenting cause, Mother assigns error to the District Court. Mother argues the trial court erroneously classified Mother's termination petition with T.P.D.C.'s custody matter as part of the same action, and erroneously considered an affidavit Mother filed in the parenting proceeding.

1. Section 41-3-801 does not specify a requirement for a separate cause number for termination petitions.

District courts are to ascertain what is contained in a statute, not to insert what has been omitted. § 1-2-101, MCA. Sections 41-3-801 through 803 lack clarity and detail (amongst other defects). Unlike § 40-9-101, MCA, which clearly requires grandparent contact petitions be filed as a separate proceeding, § 41-3-801 through 803 do not specify a requirement for a separate cause.

Besides Mother is the one who filed her petition to terminate in the parenting cause, Mother's assignment of error essentially criticizes the District Court for not inserting a procedural requirement that is not included in the petition to terminate statutes. Mother's assignment of error is inconsistent with the rules of statutory construction.

2. Mother waived any procedural defect.

Mother waived any procedural defect when she filed her Petition to

Terminate in the parenting proceeding and acquiesced to the hearing.

A person cannot take advantage of the person's own mistake. § 1-3-208, MCA. An experienced lawyer waives whatever right he might have had to purported procedural defects when he actively participates in hearing.

Niewoehner v. District Court of Fourteenth Judicial Dist. In and For Meagher County, 142 Mont. 1, 11, 381 P.2d 464, 469 (Mont. 1963). In Niewoehner, an attorney represented himself in a contempt action. The district court did not supply a court reporter and denied Niewoehner's request for a court reporter. Niewoehner actively participated in the hearing without a court reporter being present despite a procedural requirement that a court reporter is present. Niewoehner then used the lack of a court reporter as a basis for appeal. The Supreme Court held Mr. Niewoehner could not later object to the lack of a reporter after actively participated at the hearing. *Id*.

Like *Neiwoehner*, Mother waived any purported procedural defect. Although Mother could have filed her *Petition to Terminate* as a separate cause, Mother chose to file her *Petition to Terminate* in the DR matter. Mother never requested the District Court assign a separate DN cause number for her *Petition to Terminate* and Mother actively participated in multiple hearings without objection. Further, Mother did not object when the Court referenced the underlying file, or when the

Court read into the record *Mother's Affidavit* filed in the parenting proceedings. *Hr. Tr.*, 159:1-164.

Mother cannot now benefit from her wrong-doing by assigning error due to a filing discrepancy Mother created, and Mother waived any purported procedural defect.

3. Any procedural defect is harmless.

Mother's assignment of error is a distinction of no consequence since the District Court effectively treated the *Petition to Terminate* as a separate proceeding from the parenting matter.

A matter will not be reversed unless substantial prejudice to the complaining party is shown. *Green v. Green*, 181 Mont. 285, 293, 593 P.2d 446, 451 (Mont. 1979).

No substantial prejudice to Mother occurred since the District Court treated Mother's termination petition as a separate proceeding. Standing Master Desmond had been handling the parenting proceedings. When Mother filed her *Petition to Terminate* in the parenting proceeding, Judge Deschamps stepped in and presided over the *Petition to Terminate*. At hearing, Deschamps expressly clarified he was not addressing the parenting issues, and was "only" addressing Mother's termination petition. *Hr. Tr.*, 8:10-11:24.

Moreover, Deschamps granted Mother's motion in limine to exclude

evidence regarding the child's best interests, rejected Father's argument the child's constitutional right to a father-child relationship requires consideration of the child's best interests, and expressly clarified the Court would focus on the narrow issue of Mother's termination petition. *Hr. Tr.*, 8:10-11:24.

In substance, the District Court treated Mother's petition to terminate as a separate proceeding. The law prefers substance over form. § 1-3-219, MCA. Any procedural defect is in form only and constitutes harmless error.

4. The District Court is authorized to take judicial notice of the parenting proceedings.

Mother misleadingly argues the Court erred by referencing the fact Mother made no suggestion of sexual abuse in prior proceedings, since the Court is authorized to take judicial notice of court records, including the paternity and parenting proceedings (which were consolidated).

The Court took notice of Mother's *Affidavit* (Feb. 23, 2015)(D.C. Doc. 18) wherein Mother extensively criticized Father. *Hr. Tr.*, 158:24-162:24. The Court noted Mother's serial attacks indicate "disdain" for Father but are void of any suggestion the child was the product of rape. *Hr. Tr.*, 162:22-24. Moreover, Mother's sworn statement reveals Mother judicially admitted "I want to support that relationship," (i.e. the relationship between Father and T.P.D.C.). *Hr. Tr.*, 162:6 (quoting *Affidavit* (Feb. 23, 2015)(D.C. Doc. 18)).

The District Court did not err by taking judicial notice of the parenting

proceedings and Mother's sworn statement. The District Court is authorized to take judicial notice of "records of any Court of this state." Rule 202(b)(6), M.R.Evid. The District Court also has authority to take judicial notice of facts not subject to reasonable dispute if the facts are "capable of accurate and ready determination by sources whose accuracy cannot be reasonably questioned." Rule 201(b), M.R.Evid. A court may take judicial notice of laws or facts on its own accord. Rules 201(c) and 202(c), M.R.Evid.

The District Court was not required to apply blinders to related proceedings involving T.P.D.C., nor Mother's sworn statements. Mother's assignment of error is misplaced.

Even if the Court had not been authorized to take judicial notice, its reference to the underlying proceedings is not necessary or essential to the findings that the February 19, 2014 intercourse was consensual since there is other substantial evidence supporting the Court's finding. Even if there had been error by taking judicial notice of the parenting proceedings, any such error constitutes harmless error.

C. The Rape Shield statute does not apply.

The District Court did not err when it declined to exclude evidence pursuant to the criminal Rape Shield statute at Title 45, Chapter 5, Section 5.

The Rape Shield Law is codified in Montana's criminal code, providing the

following (in pertinent part):

45-5-511. Provisions generally applicable to sexual crimes.

(1) [omitted]

(2) Evidence concerning the sexual conduct of the victim is inadmissible in **prosecutions** under this part **except** evidence of the victim's past sexual conduct with the offender or evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual activity to show the origin of semen, pregnancy, or disease that is at issue in the prosecution.

(3) If the defendant proposes for any purpose to offer evidence described in subsection (2), the trial judge shall order a hearing out of the presence of the **jury** to determine whether the proposed evidence is admissible under subsection (2).

(4) Evidence of failure to make a timely complaint or immediate outcry does not raise any presumption as to the credibility of the victim.

(5) Resistance by the victim is not required to show lack of consent. Force, fear, or threat is sufficient alone to show lack of consent.

Section 45-5-511, MCA (emphasis added).

1. Mother's petition is not a criminal prosecution before a jury under Title 45.

The plain language of the rape shield statute confirms it is not applicable

since the underlying matter is not a criminal prosecution before a jury under Title

45. Under subsection (2), evidence concerning sexual conduct of the victim is

inadmissible "in prosecutions under this part". The underlying matter is a petition

to terminate parental rights in a civil proceeding pursuant to § 41-3-801(2)(b). It

is not a criminal prosecution under the referenced part, which is part 5 (Sexual

Crimes) of chapter 5 (Offenses against the Person) of Title 45 (Crimes).

Subsection (3) requires evidentiary determinations regarding the admissibility of sexual conduct to be held outside the presence of the "jury." Further underscoring the inapplicability of subsection (2), there is no right to a jury trial in termination proceedings. § 41-3-801(7), MCA. The District Court did not err when it took notice the purpose of the rape shield statute is to protect against prejudicing a "jury." *Hr. Tr.*, 59:9-13.

Mother's argument the district court erred by not holding a separate hearing to determine the admissibility of evidence of Mother and Father's other sexual relations makes no sense. The reason for requiring a separate hearing is to avoid prejudicing a jury. In this matter, the judge is the fact finder. Holding a separate hearing would not shield the judge from any prejudice associated with hearing the evidence sought to be excluded.

The District Court correctly determined the rape shield statute does not apply. Mother's argument the Court was required to hold a separate evidentiary hearing outside the presence of the jury is nonsensical.

2. The Montana Legislature did not incorporate the rape shield law into § 41-3-801.

Mother's argument the rape shield statue applies runs afoul of wellestablished rules of statutory interpretation. When interpreting a statute, the trial court is to "simply ascertain and declare what is in terms or substance contained therein, not to insert what has been omitted or omit what has been inserted." § 12-101, MCA. The intention of the Legislature is to be pursued from the plain meaning of the words used; if interpretation can be so determined, the court may not go further and apply other means of interpretation. § 1-2-102, MCA; *State v. Trull*, 2006 MT 119, ¶ 332 Mont. 233, 136 P.3d 551.

When construing a challenged statute, a reviewing court must read and interpret the statute, without isolating specific terms from the context in which they are used by the legislative body. *State v. Lilburn*, 265 Mont. 256, 266, 875 P.2d 1036, 1041(Mont. 1994).

In order to adopt Mother's proposed interpretation of the rape shield statue, the District Court would have had to insert language into § 45-5-511, MCA to include civil proceedings under § 41-3-801. The District Court followed the rules of statutory construction when it refrained from doing so.

Nor did the Legislature incorporate the rape shield law into §§ 41-3-801 et. seq. "[W]hen the Legislature enacts or amends statutes, it is presumed to have acted with deliberation and with full knowledge of all existing laws relating to the subject addressed." *Ross v. City of Great Falls*, 1998 MT 276, ¶24, 291 Mont. 377, 967 P.2d 1103 (internal quotation omitted). Had the Legislature intended for §45-5-511 to apply to proceedings under § 41-3-801, it could have done so when it enacted § 41-3-801. The Legislature did not. The District Court followed the rules of statutory construction when it declined to exclude evidence under the rape shield statute.

3. Even if the rape shield statute applied, the exception authorizes evidence of Mother and Father's other sexual encounters.

Mother argues the District Court erred by hearing evidence of Mother and Father's sexual conduct February 22, 2014. Mother's argument must fail for several reasons.

Even if the Rape Shield statute applied—which it does not—exceptions would apply. Subsection (2) expressly allows "evidence of the victim's past sexual conduct **with the offender** or evidence of specific instances of the victim's sexual activity to show the **origin of ...pregnancy**...that is at issue in the prosecution."

Both exceptions would apply. The evidence was of Mother's sexual conduct with Father (*i.e.* the alleged offender).

Also, evidence of other unprotected sex between Mother and Father was offered to show the origin of pregnancy could have been from consensual intercourse February 22, 2014 (not February 19, 2014 which is the date Mother alleged the child was conceived of nonconsensual intercourse). This defense is implicitly authorized by § 41-3-801(2)(b) which requires Mother to provide clear and convincing evidence the alleged sexual intercourse without consent on February 19, 2014 caused the child to be conceived. Accordingly, the District Court did not err when it allowed evidence related to this defense. *E.g.* see *Hr*. *Tr.*, 58:12 - 59: 24.

Further, Father had a right to present a defense and challenge Mother's credibility. *State v. Colburn*, 2016 MT 41, ¶¶ 28-29, 382 Mont. 223, 366 P.3d 258.

Even if the rape shield statue applied, evidence of other sexual encounters between Mother and Father were admissible under the exceptions and right to provide a defense (especially in a bench trial where the judge is well suited to decipher the evidence, and there is not a risk of prejudicing a jury).

4. The Montana Rules of Evidence appropriately protect against improper evidence of sexual conduct.

It is unnecessary to apply the criminal rape shield statute to civil termination proceedings under § 41-3-801, MCA since the Montana Rules of Evidence provide appropriate safeguards to prevent admission of improper evidence of sexual conduct.

The Montana Rules of Evidence apply to abuse and neglect proceedings. *In re M.N.*, 2011 MT 245, ¶18, 362 Mont. 186, 261 P.3d 1047. The Montana Rules of Evidence protect against admission of evidence that is irrelevant, prejudicial, misleading, or constitutes improper character evidence. Rules 402, 403, 404, M.R.Evid. The Montana Rules of Evidence thus provide appropriate means for district courts to exercise discretion and protect against evidence of sexual conduct
from being improperly admitted.

5. Any purported error in allowing evidence of Mother and Father's other sexual relations would constitute harmless error.

Even if the rape shield statute applied and precluded evidence of Mother and Father's other sexual encounters, allowing such evidence constitutes harmless error.

"Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." Rule 103, M.R.Evid. Mother does not deny she had sex with Father more than one time (*Hr. Tr.*, 58:12-13), she does not demonstrate a substantial right was affected by such evidence being introduced, and she does not argue a jury or fact-finder was prejudiced to perceive her as a loose woman.

Regardless, the evidence of Mother and Father's sexual relations February 22, 2014 is not necessary or essential to the District Court's finding that the sexual intercourse on February 19, 2014 was consensual since other substantial credible evidence exists supporting the District Court's findings and conclusions. Any error in refusing to exclude evidence of Mother and Father's other sexual relations would constitute harmless error.

D. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it admitted printouts of Mother's text messages to Father into evidence.

Mother argues the District Court abused its discretion by admitting Mother's

text messages to Father into evidence. Mother alleges Father failed to lay sufficient foundation, and the original phone(s) were required in order to admit printouts of the 2014 text messages.

"A district court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion." *Beehler v. E. Radiological Assocs., P.C.*, 2012 MT 260, ¶ 17, 367 Mont. 21, 289 P.3d 131. A district court possesses broad discretion to determine the admissibility of evidence. *Malcolm v. Evenflo Co.*, 2009 MT 285, ¶ 29, 352 Mont. 325, 217 P.3d 514.

Pertinent text communications between Mother and Father were admitted into evidence as Exhibit A. *Hr. Tr.*, 265:5-6.

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